# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC03-530

LOWER TRIBUNAL CONSOLIDATED CASE
NOS. 3D01-662, 3D01-665
CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 01-05039 CA 11

POST-NEWSWEEK STATIONS FLORIDA, INC., d/b/a WPLG CHANNEL 10,

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF MIAMI, et al.,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM
THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

CERTIFYING A QUESTION TO BE OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

\_\_\_\_\_

MITRANI, RYNOR, ADAMSKY &
MACAULAY, P.A.
Karen Williams Kammer, P.A.
Fla. Bar No. 771200
2200 SunTrust Int'l Center
Miami, Florida 33131
305/358-0050
305/358-0550 (facsimile)
Attorneys for Petitioner Post-Newsweek

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 7, 2001, Miami police responded to an early morning 911 call from the Coconut Grove home of then-Miami Mayor Joe Carollo. During an argument, the Mayor reportedly had struck and injured his wife with what the police report described as a "hard object" (R.76), later characterized as a tea canister. According to the report, the Mayor's wife sustained a "golf size ball [sic] hematoma on the left side of her temple" and she described the incident to the arresting officer as a "fight" "she got into . . . with her husband". R.76. In the 911 call, the couple's daughter told the dispatcher her father was hurting her mother. R.79. Upon arriving at the couple's home, Miami police documented Mrs. Carollo's injuries using a still camera (the "Injury Photo") and also taped a statement from Mrs. Carollo recounting the incident (the "Statement"). R.71.

Miami police arrested the Mayor and charged him with misdemeanor battery. R.76. That prosecution was assigned to the Honorable Carroll J. Kelly, Case No. M016692, in Miami-Dade County

For this Court's convenience, references to the record on appeal before the Third District Court of Appeal will be shown by "R. \_\_\_\_\_". References to pages in the Appendix to this Initial Brief will be shown by "A. \_\_\_\_\_".

Court (the "Criminal Case").

Later that day, Post-Newsweek made both oral and written requests under Florida's Public Records Act (the "Act") to the Miami Police Department (the "City") to inspect and copy the 911 recording. R.99. The City produced it along with the arrest report. R.180. The contents of the recording and arrest report first appeared in numerous broadcast news reports that day, in the newspaper the following morning, and in published reports in the days immediately following. See, for example, "Carollo spends the night in jail", The Miami Herald, Thursday, February 8, 2001. R.77-81. The substance of Mrs. Carollo's injuries, the object which caused them, and contemporaneous accounts of what had happened thus became public shortly after the altercation at the Mayor's home.

The following day, February 8, Post-Newsweek made both oral and written requests under the Act for the Injury Photo.

R.97. The City failed to respond to these requests and withheld the Photo without citing any provision of the Act or any other statutory basis for doing so. Post-Newsweek also made oral requests under the Act to inspect and copy the Statement, as well as any other statements to law enforcement Mrs. Carollo may

have given in connection with the incident. As with the Injury Photo, the City refused to produce the Statement (collectively, the "Public Records" or "Records") and cited no statutory provision exempting such Records from public inspection.

In the meantime, the Mayor proceeded with his defense in the Criminal Case. On February 26 the Mayor's counsel served a notice of appearance, entered a written plea of not guilty and sought additional time to file defensive motions. R.116. A. 25-26. He also served notice of the Mayor's "intent to participate in discovery and request[ed] production of all information required to be disclosed" (emphasis added) (the "Discovery Notice"). R.116, 180. A.27-28. The Mayor filed his Discovery Notice the next day, February 27, 2001. A.27-28.

On February 27, after several further unsuccessful

For the Court's convenience, a copy of the actual "Notice Of Appearance, Written Plea Of Not Guilty, And Request For Additional Time To File Defensive Motions" (which was included in the Appendix to Post-Newsweek's Consolidated Answer Brief filed with the Third District Court of Appeal) also is included in the Appendix here at A.25-26.

For the Court's convenience, a copy of the actual Discovery Notice (which was included in the Appendix to Post-Newsweek's Consolidated Answer Brief filed with the Third District Court of Appeal) also is included in the Appendix here at A.27-28.

Newsweek's counsel submitted another written request for the Injury Photo, Statement and related public records. R.100-101. Pursuant to the Act, that letter also asked the City to state with particularity the reasons supporting any exemption it might assert. R.100-101. Later that day - nearly three weeks after Post-Newsweek's first request and despite the already public nature of the information -- the City for the first time claimed the Injury Photo and Statement were exempt from disclosure as active criminal investigative information under Section 119.07(3)(b), Florida Statutes. R.102. The City did not set forth with particularity its reason for concluding the Records were exempt, although Post-Newsweek had asked it to do so. R.102.

As a result of the City's refusal to produce the Public Records, on February 28 Post-Newsweek filed a complaint against the City in Miami-Dade County Circuit Court seeking a writ of mandamus to enforce the Public Records Act (the "Public Records Lawsuit"). R. 1-37. In the Criminal Case pending in county court, Post-Newsweek also moved to intervene to compel the State, another custodian of the Records, to produce what it

had. R. 130-134.4

On March 5, the circuit court judge scheduled a hearing for the following day on the relief requested. Also that day and unknown to Post-Newsweek, the Mayor orally withdrew his Discovery Notice at his arraignment in the Criminal Case. Transcript of March 6, 2001, hearing before the Honorable Bernard Shapiro (the "March 6 Transcript")<sup>5</sup> at 22; R.121, 180-181.

On March 6, the circuit court held an hour-long hearing on the Public Records Lawsuit (the "March 6 Hearing").

See March 6 Transcript. That same day, in the Criminal Case the Mayor served the State with a "Notice Of Withdrawal Of Discovery Request", claiming his Discovery Notice served and filed more than a week before was "filed prematurely and in error". March 6 Transcript at 22; R.121, 128-129, 180-181; A.29-30. The county court judge in the Criminal Case accepted

Believing the State also might have copies of the Records in connection with its battery prosecution, Post-Newsweek had submitted a public records request to it as well. However, the State produced nothing.

The March 6 Transcript is included as "Exhibit A" in the "Appendix to Motion of Intervenor Mayor Joe Carollo For Stay Pending Appeal Or For Review Of Order Denying Stay Pending Appeal" which the Mayor filed with the Third District Court of Appeal on or about March 14, 2001.

that withdrawal. R.121, 181. At the March 6 Hearing, counsel for Post-Newsweek appeared, as did two attorneys on behalf of the City, and one attorney on behalf of the State. See March 6 Transcript. Although not reflected by the transcript itself, counsel for the Mayor did appear during the course of that hearing, as his counsel later acknowledged. See Transcript of March 8, 2001, Hearing before the Honorable Bernard Shapiro (the "March 8 Transcript") 6 at 18.

At the March 6 Hearing the City argued the police department was not the proper party and challenged service on the police chief. Both the City and the State argued the Mayor's oral withdrawal of his Discovery Notice the day before provided a basis for non-disclosure. March 6 Transcript at 18-23. The State also claimed release of the Records would prejudice its on-going case against the Mayor because it would permit him to obtain the same information without obligating himself to the discovery process. March 6 Transcript at 26. The parties' fair trial rights under this Court's opinion in

The March 8 Transcript is included as "Exhibit B" in the "Appendix to Motion Of Intervenor Mayor Joe Carollo For Stay Pending Appeal Or For Review Of Order Denying Stay Pending Appeal" which the Mayor filed with the Third District Court of Appeal on or about March 14, 2001.

Florida Freedom Newspapers, Inc. v. McCrary were also addressed. March 6 Transcript at 35. After concluding the Mayor's Discovery Notice - despite his subsequent attempt to withdraw it - triggered an obligation by the State to provide the materials and therefore that the Public Records should be released, the trial court nevertheless granted the City's motion to dismiss with leave to amend for Post-Newsweek to add the City of Miami as a party. March 6 Transcript at 40, 44, and 45.

That afternoon, the county court in which the Criminal Case was pending advised Post-Newsweek's counsel that Judge Kelly was out of town at a conference in Tallahassee until Friday, March 9, would not be able to entertain Post-Newsweek's motion to compel, and would "hold [the] motion until Friday".

See also March 8 Transcript at 15. On Friday, March 9, the Mayor served a notice of unavailability in the Criminal Case advising the county court that none of his attorneys would be available the following Monday, March 12, thereby postponing any hearing in the Criminal Case on the issues until at least March 13. See "Notice Of Parties' Unavailability For Hearing".8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> 520 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1988).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> A copy is included in the Appendix to Post-Newsweek's Consolidated Answer Brief filed with the Third

After the March 6 Hearing, upon agreement with the City and in order to facilitate a prompt resolution of the public records issues, Post-Newsweek served its Amended Complaint substituting the City of Miami for the police department and voluntarily dismissing the police chief. R.70-102, 147-148. The City responded to the suit the next day, March 7, repeating the arguments it had made at the March 6 Hearing. See "Respondent's Answer To Amended Complaint And Memorandum Of Law". That day both the State and the Mayor formally moved to intervene to oppose the Records' release, each citing their respective arguments made the day before at the March 6 Hearing: the withdrawn discovery demand, the assertedly exempt status of the Records, and the alleged prejudice to fair trial rights. R.103-114, 115-146. The Mayor also asked the circuit court to transfer Post-Newsweek's mandamus action to the county court hearing the Mayor's battery prosecution. R.123-125.

At the next hearing set by the trial court for March 8, three attorneys appeared on behalf of the City, two on behalf of the State, and two on behalf of the Mayor in addition to counsel for Post-Newsweek. During that 35-minute hearing, the

District Court of Appeal.

City and the State made the same substantive arguments against disclosure each had made twice before (March 8 Transcript at 10-11, 18-19), a point the trial court acknowledged and the State conceded: "I think we touched on all this, [sic] the other day." March 8 Transcript at 31. The State also argued its right to intervene (March 8 Transcript at 31), as did the Mayor, who also repeated his earlier arguments against disclosure. See March 8 Transcript at 19-23. With respect to his fair trial argument, the Mayor presented no evidence to support it as McCrary requires. After giving all concerned an opportunity to be heard, the trial court reserved ruling pending its further review of the extensive briefs opposing disclosure the City, State and Mayor had filed. March 8 Transcript at 34.

Later that day, in response to the Mayor's assertion the county court judge hearing the Criminal Case would hold a hearing Tuesday, March 13, on Post-Newsweek's motion to compel

<sup>9</sup> Although the Mayor and State had not scheduled their motions to intervene for hearing, the trial court nevertheless gave each an opportunity to argue their respective positions and "reviewed and considered" their "extensive written and oral argument". R.179. See also March 6 and March 8 Transcripts. In fact, the Mayor referred to himself as an "intervenor" when he filed his notice of appeal with the trial court. R.168.

the State to comply with Chapter 119, Post-Newsweek contacted Judge Kelly's chambers who advised that the judge would hold a status conference that afternoon but would entertain no motions.

See March 8, 2001, letter from Isaac Mitrani and Scott Trell to the Honorable Bernard Shapiro. 10

On Monday, March 12, the trial court issued its "Order on Amended Complaint To Enforce Provisions Of Chapter 119" (the "Order"), granting Post-Newsweek the relief it sought. R.178-184; A.17-23. In the Order the trial court found that much of what happened the morning of February 7, including the nature of Mrs. Carollo's injuries, had already been made public, both by the police department's release of the arrest report and 911 tape, and the parties' various interviews to "provide their version of the incident to whomever will listen". R.180; A.19. The Order also concluded Post-Newsweek filed its Public Records Lawsuit "after earlier requests for release of records under the Florida Public Records Act were not complied with". R.180; A.19.

Additionally, the trial court declined to determine

<sup>10</sup> A copy is included in the Appendix to Post-Newsweek's Consolidated Answer Brief filed with the Third District.

whether any criminal investigation was "active", because the language of Chapter 119 was clear: when the Mayor made his discovery demand, "the State Attorney's Office was required by law to provide him with the materials now being sought herein and those materials became subject to release" pursuant to Section 119.011(3)(c)5 ("3c5") (emphasis added). R.182; A.21. According to the court, it was "immaterial" that the State had not yet produced any discovery materials to the defense because 3c5 expressly excludes from the definition of "criminal investigative information" materials "required by law or agency [rule] to be given" to the person arrested. R.182; A.21 (emphasis in original). The Mayor's subsequent discovery demand withdrawal (whose timing the court characterized as "not . . . coincidental") "cannot be used to defeat [Post-Newsweek's] request". R.181-182; A.20-21. The Public Records "requested were in such a posture that their release was mandated". R.182; A.21.

With respect to the Mayor's and the State's fair trial arguments, the trial court acknowledged they had "presented [the court] with extensive written and oral argument . . . and provided . . . caselaw, all of which" the trial court "reviewed"

and considered" prior to ruling. R.179; A.18. The court concluded that given the parties' "willingness . . . to try their case in the press", among other things, the Records' disclosure would not "impair[]" the ability of the parties to receive a fair trial in the criminal matter. R.182-183; A.21-22.

The Order then directed the City to release the Records by 4:30 p.m. March 14, and reserved jurisdiction to award Post-Newsweek its fees and costs under the Act. R.183; A.22. The City filed its Notice of Appeal later that day. R.149-157.

Post-Newsweek immediately advised the county court judge of the Order, which had rendered Post-Newsweek's motion for access in the Criminal Case moot. See "Suggestion of Mootness Regarding Post-Newsweek's Motion For Access To Public Records" served March 12, 2001. On March 13 the county court, not believing the issue to be moot but acknowledging the Order "has been noticed for appeal", deferred ruling on Post-Newsweek's motion for access and the Mayor's request for an

See also the State's "Emergency Motion To Intervene And Motion For Stay Of Trial Court Order Pending Appellate Review" at 3, n.2, filed with the Third District Court of Appeal on or about March 14, 2001.

evidentiary hearing and in-camera inspection. See "Order On Post-Newsweek's Emergency Motion To Intervene And For Access To Public Records And Suggestion Of Mootness" at 1 and 4.12

On March 13, the Mayor and the State each asked the trial court to stay its order pending appellate review (R.158-161, 162-167), repeating the same arguments each had made several times previously and the court had rejected. The trial court denied those motions the following morning. R.177. The Mayor, characterizing himself as an "intervenor", filed a Notice of Appeal. R.168. The Mayor and State then turned to the Third District Court of Appeal for a stay, which it denied on the authority of Section 119.011(3)(c)5. A.24.

While the State's and Mayor's requests for a stay before this Court were pending, the trial court's deadline for the City to produce the Public Records passed. Despite the Order and the absence of any stay, the City continued to refuse to produce the Records. It finally released them at 6:00 p.m. March 14, one and one-half hours after the court-ordered deadline and 45 minutes after the Third District's order

A copy appears as "Exhibit A" to "Motion Of Mayor Carollo To Intervene" filed with the Third District Court of Appeal on or about March 14, 2001.

refusing to block the Records' release. Once the City finally complied with the Order, various news organizations, including Post-Newsweek, published the Records' contents.

The City, State and Mayor timely filed their notices of appeal. On October 9, 2002, the Third District issued a 2-1 panel decision reversing the trial court's grant of a writ of mandamus under Chapter 119, Florida Statutes (the "Decision").

A.3-16. Post-Newsweek timely moved for rehearing, rehearing en banc, and/or certification of questions as being of great public importance, certification of the panel decision as expressly affecting a class of constitutional or state officers, and certification of the panel decision as expressly and directly conflicting with decisions of other district courts of appeal and of this Court on the same question of law. Among the various types of relief requested in that motion, Post-Newsweek asked the Third District to certify the following questions as questions of great public importance:

- 1. Does criminal investigative or intelligence information lose its exempt status under Section 119.011(3)( c)5, Fla. Stat., only when it is actually given in discovery to the person arrested?
- 2. May a criminal defendant control the public's access to otherwise non-exempt

CASE NO. SC03-530 LOWER TRIBUNAL CONSOLIDATED CASE NOS. 3D01-662, 3D01-665 CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 01-05039 CA 11

discovery material by withdrawing his election to participate in discovery?

On February 26, 2003, the Third District denied Post-Newsweek's motion, but certified the following question as one of great public importance:

When a criminal defendant files a written request for discovery pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.220 and subsequently withdraws that request before the State responds to the request and before the expiration of the 15 days prescribed in [R]ule 3.220(b), are the materials and documents so requested subject to a Public Record request or do they retain their exempt status under section 119.07, Florida Statutes (2000), as active criminal investigative information?

A.12. Post-Newsweek timely filed its notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. This Court subsequently postponed its decision on jurisdiction but directed Post-Newsweek to serve its initial brief on the merits by May 19, 2003.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should answer the certified question by holding criminal investigative or intelligence information ceases to be exempt the moment a criminal defendant serves and files his discovery notice, thus invoking his right participate in discovery under Rule 3.220 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, irrespective of whether the defendant later may withdraw that discovery notice. In clear and unambiguous language the Public Records Act identifies two alternative avenues by which criminal discovery material becomes available for public inspection and copying: either it is given - or "required by law" to be given - to the defendant. moment a defendant elects to participate in discovery, the state is under compulsion of law to produce the material to the defense. While Rule 3.220 permits a defendant to withdraw his discovery notice under certain circumstances, that withdrawal can have no effect on the public's right of access. Answering the certified question in the manner Post-Newsweek urges here is consistent with accepted rules of statutory construction and furthers the Act's overarching policy in favor of disclosure. Such a response also is consistent with this Court's prior

holdings and would avoid a constitutional clash between the courts and legislative branch.

#### **ARGUMENT**

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