IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC 03-530 Lower Case No. 3D01-662 & 3D01-665

POST-NEWSWEEK STATIONS FLORIDA, INC., d/b/a WPLG CHANNEL 10,

Petitioner,

-vs-

CITY OF MIAMI et al.,

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT CERTIFYING A QUESTION TO BE OF PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ALEJANDRO VILARELLO, CITY ATTORNEY, CHARLES C. MAYS, and REGINE MONESTIME, ASSISTANT CITY ATTORNEYS Counsel for Respondent, CITY OF MIAMI 444 S.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite 945 Miami, Florida 33130 Tel. (305) 416-1800

i

Fax. (305) 416-1801

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal properly found that the documents and materials at issue retained their exempt status pursuant to section 119.07(3)(b), Fla. Stat. 2000. That section provides that criminal investigation materials are confidential as long as they are part of an active criminal investigation. Where there is no dispute that the materials and documents in question were part of an ongoing criminal investigation based on Mayor Carollo's battery charge, the materials remained confidential. The fact that Carollo filed a notice of discovery does not change the nature of the confidential materials because Carollo was allowed to properly withdraw his request before the State provided any discovery information to him.

The City agrees with the majority opinion below that once Carollo withdrew his discovery request, the requested information was no longer required to be given to Carollo under section 119.011(3)(c)(5). The City's position finds support in both jurisprudential principles articulated by this Court as well as appellate courts in Florida. Moreover, the rationale employed by the majority opinion is consistent with the legislative history of the statute and with the public policy considerations.

7

Therefore based on the prevailing case law and arguments cited herein, this Court should hold with the lower court that the documents in question were exempt and confidential.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD ANSWER THE CERTIFIED QUESTION IN THE NEGATIVE AND HOLD THAT WHEN A CRIMINAL DEFENDANT FILES A WRITTEN REQUEST FOR DISCOVERY PURSUANT TO FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.220 AND SUBSEQUENTLY WITHDRAWS THAT REQUEST BEFORE THE STATE RESPONDS TO THE REQUEST AND BEFORE THE EXPIRATION OF THE 15 DAYS PRESCRIBED IN RULE 3.220(B), THE MATERIALS AND DOCUMENTS SO REQUESTED RETAIN THEIR EXEMPT STATUS UNDER SECTION 119.07, FLORIDA STATUTES (2000), AS ACTIVE CRIMINAL INVESTIGATIVE INFORMATION

The Third District Court of Appeal correctly held that the materials at issue, the photograph of Mayor Carollo's wife and her statement to the police, were protected under Chapter 119 of the Public Records Act. Section 119.07(3)(b), Fla. Stat. 2000, exempts otherwise public records from disclosure where they are part of "[a]ctive criminal information and active criminal investigative information." In this case, the documents in question were clearly part of an active criminal investigation surrounding Carollo's arrest and subsequent misdemeanor battery charge.

119.011(3)(d), Florida Under Statutes, a criminal § investigation is considered "active" when it is "related to an ongoing investigation which is continuing with a reasonable, good faith anticipation of securing an arrest or prosecution in the foreseeable future, or is directly related to pending prosecutions or appeals." See News-Press Pub. Co., Inc. v. Sapp, 464 So. 2d 1335 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985. It is not until the conviction and sentencing have become final that the criminal investigative information can no longer be considered "active." See State v. Kokal, 562 So. 2d 324, 326 (Fla. 1990). In the case sub judice, it is undisputed that at the time the trial court ordered the City to disclose the materials to the public, the case pending against Carollo was ongoing and had not yet been closed.

The difficulty arises when Carollo files his written request for discovery pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.220 and later withdraws the request before the State Attorney provided him with any discovery. Rule 3.220(a) was added to the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure to insure reciprocal discovery. *See Henderson v. State*, 745 So. 2d 319, 324 (Fla. 1999). The rule was intended to remove a defendant's ability to escape a reciprocal discovery

obligation simply by making a public records request. *Id.* at 326-27. Thus, as a result of Rule 3.220, once a defendant files a notice of discovery or participates in discovery, the rule triggers the State's as well as the defendant's obligation to disclose information it may not otherwise be required to disclose. Specifically that rule provides:

(a) Notice of Discovery.

After the filing of the charging document, a defendant may elect to participate in the discovery process provided by these rules, including the taking of discovery depositions, by filing with the court and serving on the prosecuting attorney a "Notice of Discovery" which shall bind both the prosecution and defendant to all discovery procedures contained in these rules.

(b) Prosecutor's Discovery Obligation.

(1) Within 15 days after service of the Notice of Discovery, the prosecutor shall serve a written Discovery Exhibit which shall disclose to the defendant and permit the defendant to inspect, copy, test, and photograph the following information and material within the state's possession or control.

Relying on § 119.011(3)(c)5², Post Newsweek argues that once Carollo filed his discovery notice, the materials irrevocably and irreversibly became open to the public and no longer exempt under § 119.07(3)(b). However, the Third District found and the City agrees that where the documents at issue were never given to Carollo, the materials retained their exempt status because they were no longer required to be given once the discovery notice was withdrawn. *City of Miami v. Post-Newsweek Stations*, 837 So.2d

² § 119.011(3)(c)5 provides that public records are exempted from disclosure and are no longer confidential if the documents are given or required to be given to a person arrested.

1002, 1004 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002. The question to be resolved by this Court is whether despite the fact that Carollo withdrew his discovery notice, the materials in question were still required to be given to Carollo; thus making them open to the public and no longer exempt under the Public Records law.

Although this Court has never directly defined the phrase "required by law . . . to be given" within the context of Public Records law, it has not left us without some guidance. In Henderson I, amended in part, Henderson v. State, 763 So.2d 274, (Fla. 2000, the trial court ruled that defendant's public records request to the local sheriff constituted participation in the discovery process, thereby triggering a reciprocal discovery obligation. 745 So.2d at 320. Defendant filed a petition for writ of certiorari was which denied by the First District Court of Appeal. On appeal to the Supreme Court, this Court held that the receipt of nonexempt public records regarding pending prosecution against defendant triggers a reciprocal discovery obligation for the defendant. Id. at 327. In so holding, this Court examined the means by which the defendant could gain access to the desired information. Id. at 326. This Court conveyed that, "only if Henderson acts in his capacity as the 'person arrested' under <u>section 119.011(3)(c)5</u> and participates in

11

discovery will he have access to the requested information." Id. at 326-27. Then, in a footnote the Court cites to § 119.011(3)(c)5 as follows:

Section 119.011(3)(c)(5) provides, in pertinent part, that: "Criminal intelligence information" and "criminal investigative information" shall not include: Documents given or required by law or agency rule to be given to the person arrested....

In other words, a criminal defendant has access to this information if he or she is due such material under Brady <u>v.</u> Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963, or participates in discovery. (Emphasis added.).

Id. at 317 n.8. This Court's reading of § 119.011(3)(c)5 clearly demonstrates its understanding of the statute. Although probably not exclusive, it seems to characterize "required . . . to be given" as material that is exculpatory or information negating guilt under *Brady*; or material that is actually given to the defendant. Unlike *Brady* material, which must be shared with the defendant at practically all cost, see *Young v. State*, 739 So.2d 553, 558 (Fla. 1999 ("We have expressly recognized that the State is obligated to disclose to a defendant all exculpatory evidence in its possession.")(*citations omitted*.); the materials at issue in this case, were not in and of themselves required to be disclosed to Carollo. In other words, had Carollo never filed a

12

notice of discovery, there would be no question that they would not have become public records through § 119.011(3)(c)5. Moreover, it is incumbent to note that under Rule 3.220(b)(1), once a defendant does file the notice, the State has **fifteen (15) days** to comply with the rule and disclose the information to the defendant. Post Newsweek sought the information at a time, before the fifteenth day, when even Carollo himself did not have access to it.

The general proposition that non-parties do not possess discovery rights and cannot compel the disclosure of information is consistent with the majority opinion below and the prevailing case law in Florida. See Palm Beach Newspapers, Inc. v. Burk, 504 So.2d 378, 382 (Fla. 1987. Society in general, and the courts specifically, has a substantial interest in preventing abuse of judicially compelled discovery. Id. It is axiomatic that compulsory discovery rules are for the benefit of the parties and for the judicial process; they are not a device for information gathering by the press. See Florida Freedom Newspapers, Inc. v. McCrary, 520 So. 2d 32, 36 (Fla. 1988. Here, however, the press was able to subvert the rules of discovery to its own advantage in disregard of the judicial process. By withdrawing his request for discovery before the expiration of

13

the fifteen-day response period under Rule 3.220(b), Carollo gave up his right to demand production of documents from the State. Yet, Post Newsweek was granted immediate access to the information, without being obliged to wait the fifteen-day period and without regard to whether Carollo might have had valid grounds to challenge the release of any discoverable materials in the interest of a fair trial. *See Post-Newsweek Stations*, *Florida, Inc. v. Doe*, 612 So. 2d at 550-551; Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.220(b)(K)(2) and (3).

In any event, under *Henderson*, the materials at issue were not accessible because Carollo did not participate in discovery since he properly withdrew his notice; nor was the State obliged to produce the information for the same reason. There is no question that had Carollo not given his discovery notice, the press would have been prohibited from gaining access to the documents at issue. In the same vein, once withdrawn, it was as if he never made the request for discovery in the first instance. Moreover, even if Carollo had not withdrawn the notice, it would have been his right to compel the State to comply with the Rule rather than an outside party. Finally, Carollo would have had to wait fifteen days before taking any action in that regard.

14

To allow the documents to be open to the public would give no consequence to Carollo's withdrawal. As Judge Ramirez aptly pointed out in the majority opinion below, "[R]ule 3.220(d)(3)³ seems to envision the withdrawal of a Notice of Discovery." 837 So.2d at 1004. Thus, if a defendant can withdraw his discovery notice prior to the prosecution furnishing the material and not be subjected to reciprocal discovery, then how can the media or any third party have access to documents that the defendant cannot. To hold otherwise, would lead to an illogical result and give no meaning to Rule 3.220(d)(3). See Beach v. Great Western Bank, 692 So.2d 146, 152 (Fla. 1997 (reiterating this Court's long standing "assumption that legislatures do not enact purposeless and therefore useless legislation").

In response to the majority opinion, the dissent fails to address the import of Carollo's withdrawal of the discovery notice, but this critical fact must not be ignored by this Court. As the lower court correctly decided "the documents at issue here were never 'given to the person arrested,' nor were they required

³ Rule 3.220(d)(3) reads in part: The filing of a motion for protective order by the prosecutor will automatically stay the times provided for in this subdivision. If a protective order is granted, the defendant may, within 2 days thereafter, or at any time before the prosecutor furnishes the information or material that is the subject of the motion for protective order, withdraw the defendant's notice of discovery and not be required to furnish reciprocal discovery.

to be given once the discovery request was withdrawn, they retained their exempt status at the time the circuit court issued its writ of mandamus." 837 So.2d at 1004.

In its brief, Post-Newsweek rests their entire argument that Carollo's withdrawal has no effect on the public's access to public records, on a fatally flawed premise. Post-Newsweek contends that "[o]nce a criminal defendant elects to participate in discovery (as the Mayor did here), the state is obligated to produce the material it has." (Post-Newsweek's Brief at p. 20). However, the plain language of Rule 3.220(d)(3) allows a defendant to withdraw his notice of discovery and not be required to furnish reciprocal discovery. Therefore as a result of the defendant's withdrawal, the State would not be obligated to produce the material it has as well. If the State is not obligated to give the documents to the defendant, it is certainly not obligated to give it to the media. Consequently, Post-Newsweek's argument falls like a house of cards. The City's position also finds support in well-grounded jurisprudential principles articulated by this Court in Palm Beach Newspapers, Inc. v. Burk, 504 So.2d 378 (Fla. 1987. In that case, this Court was confronted with the certified questions of whether the press is entitled to notice and the opportunity and right to attend

16

pretrial discovery depositions in a criminal case, and whether the press entitled to access to pretrial discovery depositions in a criminal case which may or may not have been transcribed but which have not been filed with the clerk of court or the judge. Answering both questions in the negative, this Court held that that the press does not have a qualified right under the First Amendment, under rules of criminal and civil procedure, or under the Public Records Law to attend pretrial discovery depositions in a criminal case or to obtain copies of unfiled depositions. *Id.* at 382. In so holding, this Court recognized that:

Discovery rules permit extensive intrusion into the affairs of both parties and non-parties and discovery may be judicially compelled. Liberal discovery produces information which may be irrelevant to the trial and which, if publicly released, would be damaging to the reputation and privacy of both parties and non-parties. The parties are granted discovery rights as a matter of legislative or judicial grace. Non-parties do not possess discovery rights and cannot compel the disclosure of information. There is no independent right outside the trial process to the information sought. Society in general, and the courts specifically, has a substantial interest in preventing abuse of judicially compelled discovery. *Id*

With regard to Chapter 119, the Public Records statute, the Court went on to say that "nothing in chapter 119 which would point toward the blanket access to unfiled depositions advocated by petitioners." *Id.* at 384. In a footnote, this Court pointed to § 119.011(3)(c)(5) and stated that once documents are *required* to be given to an arrested person, the disclosed documents become "public in a sense." *Id.* at 384, n.2. Although not defining the term "required", this Court nonetheless stated that the phrase

was to be "narrow and specific" in accord with the analysis employed in Willis.⁴ Id

Analogizing the reasoning in *Burk* to the instant case dictates the conclusion that the documents requested by Post Newsweek, because of Carollo's withdrawal of the discovery notice, were no longer required to be given and not public. *See also Satz v. Blankenship*, 407 So. 2d 396, 398 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981 ("In order to give effect to this policy, courts have held that the language of section 119.011(3)(c)5 that '[d]ocuments given or required by law or agency rule to be given to the person arrested' indicates that once the documents are **released** to the person arrested, the documents become public records, as there is no longer a need for secrecy). Thus, the *Satz* court's holding contemplates that "once the documents are released, the Legislature believed there is no longer a need for secrecy as it loses its efficacy in deterring criminal activity. *Id.* at 398.

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